IMPORTANT THERAPEUTIC TARGETS IN ACUTE PANCREATITIS

Ph.D. Thesis



Emese Tóth

Supervisors:

Prof. Péter Hegyi M.D., Ph.D., D.Sc., MAE 1,2,3

József Maléth M.D., Ph.D.^{2,4}

¹Momentum Translational Gastroenterology Research Group, Hungarian Academy of Sciences–University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary ²First Department of Medicine, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary ³Institute for Translational Medicine and First Department of Medicine, University of Pécs, Pécs, Hungary, ⁴Momentum Epithelial Cell Signalling and Secretion Research Group, Hungarian Academy of Sciences–University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary

Szeged

2019.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.1. Publications related to the subject:	3
I.2. Publication not related to the subject;	3
I.3. Scientific metrics:	3
II. INTRODUCTION	4
II.1. Targeting the mitochondrial transition pore as potential therapeutic target in AP	4
II.2. Importance of pancreatic ductal fluid secretion	4
II.3. Alteration between acid-base balance and AP	5
III. AIMS	5
IV.MATERIALS AND METHODS	6
IV.1. Ethics (Publication No.13.)	6
IV.2. Solution and chemicals (Publication No.13.)	6
IV.3. Statistical analysis (Publication No.13.)	6
IV.4. Materials and methods used in publication No.1.	7
IV.4.1. Animals	7
IV.4.2. Chemicals	7
IV.4.3. Isolation	7
IV.4.4. Confocal microscopy	7
IV.4.5. Fluorescent microscopy	8
IV.4.6. Videomicroscopy	8
IV.4.7. Immunfluorescent staining	8
IV.4.8. In vivo measurements	9
IV.4.9. Serum amylase measurements	9
IV.4.10. Histological analysis	9
IV.5. Materials and methods used in Publication No.2.	10
IV.5.1. Animals	10
IV.5.2. Immunfluorescent stainings and detection of AQP1 and CFTR channels in mouse particular terms of the statement of the	ncreas
	10
IV.6. Methods used in publication No.3	10
IV.6.1. Animals	10
IV.6.2. Development of the new model of MA in mice	10
IV.6.3. Induction of AP	11
IV.6.4. Measurement and histological analysis	11
V. RESULTS	11
V.1.Results of publication No.1.	11
V.2. Results from publication No.2	11
V.3.Results from publication No.3	12
VI. DISCUSSION	12
VI.1. Protecting the mitochondrial homeostasis as a novel therapeutic option in AP-Publication	No.1.
	12
VI.2. The role of AOP1 in pancreatic ductal fluid secretion- Publication No.2	13
VI.3. The vicious cycle between reduced blood pH and AP-Publication No.3	13
VII. SUMMARY	14
VII.1. Conclusions, new therapeutic options in the treatment of AP	14
VIII. FUNDING	14
IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	15
X. REFERENCES	16

I.PUBLICATIONS I.1. Publications related to the subject:

Publication No.1.; <u>Emese Tóth</u>, József Maléth, Noémi Závogyán, Júlia Fanczal, Anna Grassalkovich, Réka Erdős, Petra Pallagi, Gergő Horváth, László Tretter, Emese Réka Bálint, Zoltán Rakonczay Jr., Viktória Venglovecz, Péter Hegyi "Novel mitochondrial transition pore inhibitor N-methyl-4isoleucine cyclosporin is a new therapeutic option in acute pancreatitis" *The Journal of Physiology* (2019 in press) Original publication , **IF**: **4.98**, **Q1**

Publication No.2.; Viktória Venglovecz, Petra Pallagi, Lajos V. Kemény, Anita Balázs, Zsolt Balla, Eszter Becskeházi, Eleonóra Gál, <u>Emese Tóth</u>, Ágnes Zvara, László G. Puskás, Katalin Borka, Matthias Sendler, Markus M. Lerch, Julia Mayerle, Jens-Peter Kühn, Zoltán Rakonczay Jr. and Péter Hegyi "The Importance of Aquaporin 1 in Pancreatitis and Its Relation to the CFTR Cl- Channel. "*Frontiers in physiology (2018)* Original publication, **IF: 3.394, Q2**

Publication No.3.; Zoltan Rumbus*, <u>Emese Toth</u>*, Laszlo Poto, Aron Vincze, Gabor Veres, Laszlo Czako, Emoke Olah, Katalin Marta, Alexandra Miko, Zoltan Rakonczay Jr., Zsolt Balla, Jozsef Kaszaki, Imre Foldesi, Jozsef Maleth, Peter Hegyi and Andras Garami

"Bidirectional Relationship Between Reduced Blood pH and Acute Pancreatitis: A Translational Study of Their Noxious Combination" *Frontiers in physiology (2018)* Original publication, **IF: 3.394, Q2**

*Authors share a co-authorship of this article, 'Authors share a co- last authorship of this article

I.2. Publication not related to the subject;

Andrea Szentesi1, <u>Emese Tóth</u>, Emese Bálint, Júlia Fanczal, Tamara Madácsy, Dorottya Laczkó, Imre Ignáth, Anita Balázs, Petra Pallagi, József Maléth, Zoltán Rakonczay, Jr, Balázs Kui, Dóra Illés, Katalin Márta, Ágnes Blasko['] 1, Alexandra Demcsák, Andrea Párniczky, Gabriella Pár, Szilárd Gódi , Dóra Mosztbacher, Ákos Szűcs, Adrienn Halász1, Ferenc Izbéki, Nelli Farkas, Péter Hegyi, Hungarian Pancreatic Study Group Original publication, **IF: 3.057, D1**

Number of publications: Cummulative impact factor:	4 (2 first authors) 14.825
Number of total citations (Google Scholar)	24
Hirsch index	2
Number of total citations (MTMT2)	19
Hirsch index	2

II. INTRODUCTION

II.1. Targeting the mitochondrial transition pore as potential therapeutic target in AP Mitochondrial dysfunction is one of the earliest events in the disease ^[1-4]. It has been revealed, that in acinar cells bile acids (BA) and ethanol and fatty acids (EtOH+FA) open the membrane transition pore (mPTP) channel via the cyclophilin D (Cyp D) subunit, and by keeping the channel opened mitochondrial depolarization, lower ATP synthesis and cell necrosis occur ^{[3, 5,} ^{6]}. Yet, it is still a mystery how pancreatic ductal epithelial cells (PDEC) are affected. Nowadays, to experimentally inhibit mPTP (via Cyp D) cyclosporin A (CyA) is the only licenced compound ^[7]. However, the clinical use of CyA is questionable. A trial found that CyA could reduce the size and damage of myocardial infarction, but larger studies showed no beneficial effects ^[7-9]. Debio025 (a CyA derivative, Alispovirir, Debiopharm) has been found useful against hepatitis C virus (HCV), but surprisingly, some of the patients developed pancreatitis, which ended up in a clinical hold on the global Debio025 trials ^[10, 11]. TRO40303 (3,5-seco-4-nor-cholestan-5-one oxime-3-o, TROPHOS, Roche) is another mPTP inhibitor and it was not beneficial in a phase 2 trial of cardiac preservation following acute myocardial infarction, questioning its effectivity ^[7, 12, 13]. Both Debio025 and TRO40303 have been described as useful in experimental models, but due to the clinical failures they did not reached higher levels of clinical trials in AP. Recently, a novel CyA A derivative; N-methyl-4isoleucine cyclosporin (NIM811), was shown to be greatly beneficial in different experimental and clinical studies^[14-19]. No toxicity or severe or serious adverse effects have been reported in the studies in which NIM811 were used, suggesting that it does not have severe immunosuppressant activity either ^[20].

II.2. Importance of pancreatic ductal fluid secretion

Clinical and experimental studies indicate that impaired ductal HCO₃ – secretion makes the pancreas more susceptible to inflammatory diseases such as AP or chronic pancreatitis (CP) ^[21-25]. Interestingly, the available data about the pancreatic ductal water transport processes are much less than what is known about pancreatic ductal HCO₃- secretion, except the general fact that the movement of electrolytes is osmotically coupled to water flow. It is assumed by numerous studies that there is a physical interaction between the CFTR Cl– channel and certain aquaporin (AQP) isoforms ^[26-28] Henceforth, colocalization of this two channel has been revealed in the human pancreas ^[29]. AQP1 is the major water channel of human red blood cells and in the digestive system the main result of AQP1 deletion is manifested in serum hypotriglyceridemia and steatorrhea with higher stool trygliceride concentration and increased

lipase activity ^[30, 31]. In the peritoneum the lack of AQP1 ends up in significantly reduced osmotical water transport. ^[30, 32-34] Howewer, there is only a few data available about AQPs in the pancreas and how these channels interact with other channels of the pancreatic ducts. During our study we aimed to characterize the pathophysiological and pathological role of AQPs in the pancreatic ductal secretion, one part of my dissertation focuses on the expression and possible interaction between CFTR and AQP1 channels in pancreatic ducts.

II.3. Alteration between acid-base balance and AP

AP is often co-occurred by alterations in the acid-base balance, however, how changes of blood pH influences the outcome of AP is still unknown. Acidosis is often considered as a marker of disease severity^[35]. It is known that when pancreatic bicarbonate production is altered by local or systemic acid load (metabolic acidosis, MA), the resulting lower pH can trigger pancreatic enzyme activation and deteriorate cell damage ^[36]. Moreover, injection of acidic contrast solution into the pancreatic duct increased the severity of experimental AP in rats ^[37, 38]. Takács et al. have shown that in patients with AP the luminal pH of the main pancreatic duct was also lower compared to control human samples ^[23]. These suggest that may the development of AP is still not fully clarified. During our study we developed a new mouse model of chronic metabolic acidosis (MA) and induced mild (MAP) or severe (SAP) AP in the mice to study the alterations between the diseases. The discovery of how the metabolic acidosis affect the outcome of AP in animals could open new therapeutic ways in the treatment of AP. ^[39]

III. AIMS

I. (Publication No.1.):

a.) Pancreatitis inducing factors open the membrane transition pore (mPTP) channel via cyclophilin D activation in acinar cells causing calcium overload and cell death. Notably, there is still no available data from how pancreatic ductal epithelial cells are affected by mPTP inhibition. Therefore, we aimed to investigate how genetic and pharmacological inhibition of mPTP affects the function of pancreatic ductal epithelial cells.

b.) Genetic or pharmacological inhibition of mPTP improves the outcome of acute pancreatitis in animal models. Howewer, clinical testing of different mPTP inhibitors were stopped before reaching the "proof of concept" phase 2 clinical trials due to severe problems of their effectiveness and/or safety. Thereby, we aimed to test the novel Cyclosporin A derivative NIM811 during in vivo animal experiments.

II. (Publication No.2.):

Decreased pancreatic ductal fluid secretion plays a critical role in AP. Therefore, our aim was to study the mechanisms and function of aquaporins which are involved in transepithelial water flow movements in epithelial fluid secretion in several types of tissues.

Specific aim: To investigate the presence of AQP1 water and CFTR ion channels in mouse pancreatic tissue slices.

III. (Publication No.3.):

Acid-base abnormality is common in acute pancreatitis (AP). Lowering extracellular pH deteriorates the manifestation of AP in rats and decrease of luminal pH in the pancreas contributes to the tissue damage in AP in mice. Hence, our aim was to study effect of metabolic acidosis during the manifestation of AP in mice.

Specific aim I.: To develop a mouse model of metabolic acidosis in mice Specific aim II: To study the effect of metabolic acidosis on experimental AP.

IV.MATERIALS AND METHODS

IV.1. Ethics (Publication No.1.-3.)

The animal experiments were performed in compliance with European Union Directive 2010/63/EU and Hungarian Government Decree 40/2013 (II.14.). In our studies all animals were euthanized by 200 mg/kg pentobarbital i.p. (Bimeda MTC, Cambridge, Canada).

IV.2. Solution and chemicals (Publication No.1.-3.)

All chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Budapest, Hungary), unless otherwise stated. 2.7-bis-(2-carboxyethyl)-5-(and-6-) carboxyfluorescein-acetoxymethylester (BCECF-AM) and Tetramethylrhodamine-methylester (TMRM) were purchased from Termofischer Scientific. NIM811 were purchased from MedChem Express Europe (Sweden). Cyclosporin A (CYA), caerulein (CER), NIM811, CCCP and fluorescence dies were diluted in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). Table 1 describes the constitution of solutions that we used during the study.

IV.3. Statistical analysis (Publication No.1.-3.)

All data are expressed as means \pm SEM. Analysis were performed by Sigma Plot Software.

IV.4. Materials and methods used in publication No.1.

IV.4.1. Animals

A total of 70 wild type (WT) and cyclophilin D knockout (Cyp D KO, (B6;129-Ppiftm1Maf/J) mice were sacrificed. Cyp D KO animals were provided for us by the Department of Medical Biochemistry, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary.

IV.4.2. Chemicals

In this study 500 μ M Chenodeoxycholic acid (bile acid,BA) or 100mM ethanol (EtOH) + 200 μ M palmitoleic acid (fatty acid, FA) was used during the fluorescence, confocal microscopy and immunostaining measurements, to evaluate the effect of bile acids or the alcohol and fatty acid induced damage on the mitochondrial and cell function during the genetic or pharmachological inhibition of the mPTP in pancreatic ducts or acinar cells. 100 μ M of Carbonyl cyanide 3-chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP) were used in the mitochondrional measurements as a positive control for mitochondrial damage. 2 μ M CYA and 2 μ M NIM811 were used to pharmacologically inhibit mPTP. Prior to the fluorescence and confocal microscopy, immunostainings, the cells (ducts and acinar cells as well) from the CYA- or NIM811- treated groups were pretreated for 25-30 minutes with the compounds (CYA or NIM811).

IV.4.3. Isolation

Isolation of pancreatic ducts and acinar cells were performed by microdissection and enzymatic digestion as described earlier ^[40, 41]

IV.4.4. Confocal microscopy

Mitochondrial membrane potential (Ψ) were determined by Zeiss LSM 880 confocal laser scanning microscope (Carl Zeiss Technika Kft., Budaörs, Hungary). BA or EtOH + FA were used to induce mitochondrial damage. Isolated pancreatic ducts or acinar cells were incubated in standard HEPES solution and loaded with TMRM (Tetramethylrhodamine Methyl Ester Perchlorate ,100 nmol/L). In order to monitor apoptotic and necrotic cells in isolated pancreatic ducts or acinar cells an apoptosis/necrosis kit was used (ab176750, Abcam). To determinate live, necrotic or apoptotic cells, CytoCalcein Violet 450 fluorescent, Apopxin Deep Red Indicator and Nuclear Green DCS1 fluorescence dies (ab176750, Abcam) were used.

IV.4.5. Fluorescent microscopy

Microfluorometry was used to measure pancreatic ductal HCO₃⁻ secretion as described earlier ^[42, 43] by using BCECF-AM (2',7'-Bis-(2-Carboxyethyl)-5-(and-6)-Carboxyfluorescein, Acetoxymethyl Ester, 1.5 mmol/L).

IV.4.6. Videomicroscopy

In vitro pancreatic ductal fluid secretion (luminal swelling) assays were developed by Fernández-Salazar et al, ^[44] performed by videomicroscopy as described earlier ^[45].

IV.4.7. Immunfluorescent staining

Mitochondria were detected with immunofluorescent staining (TOM20 mitochondrial marker, (EPR15581-39, Abcam)). In order to determine mitochondrial localization in isolated pancreatic ductal or acinar cells we labeled the mitochondria by the using of TOM20 primary antibody (Abcam, EPR15581-39). TOM20 is the central unit of the receptor TOM complex in the mitochondrial outer membrane and the role of it is to recognize and translocate cytosolically synthetized mitochondrial preproteins ^[46-48] Isolated pancreatic ducts were frozen in cryomold at 20°C. The cryosections (thickness 7 µm) of the isolated pancreatic ducts from WT and Cyp D KO mice were cut by Leica Cryostat. Sections were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde. Washing periods were administered with 1xTBS solution. Antigen retrieval was performed with 10 mM Sodium –Citrate solution at the pH of 6 at 95 °C for 15 minutes. Blocking was obtained for 1h with 1% goat serum in 5% BSA-TBS solution. After these sections were incubated with TOM20 rabbit monoclonal antibody (dilution 1:400, Abcam) overnight incubation at 4°C. The following day the samples were incubated with goat anti rabbit secondary antibody (Alexa fluor 488, Thermo Fisher, Rockford, IL, United States) for 2 hours at dark in room temperature. The nuclei were counterstained with Hoechst 33342 (Termofischer, Rockford, IL, United States). Immunofluorescence staining of the isolated pancreatic acinar cells were performed freshly after the isolation procedure with the same conditions as stated above, (except two parameters ; cells were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde and dilution for the primary antibody was 1:200) as stated above. Both ductal and acinar cell samples were mounted with Fluoromount and then analyzed using a Zeiss LSM 880 confocal laser scanning microscope (Carl Zeiss Technika Kft., Budaörs, Hungary).

IV.4.8. In vivo measurements

IV.4.8.1. Induction of acute pancreatitis

AP was induced by caerulein (CER,10x50µg/kg) and 4% sodium taurocholate (TAU, 2ml/kg,4%)^[24, 49-51]. We also performed alcohol and fatty acid (intraperitonal injection of 1.75 g/kg ethanol and 750 mg/kg palmitic acid , EtOH+FA) induced AP as described earlier [25, 52], however it is not part of this dissertation. All control groups received physiological saline in the same amount as the CER, EtOH+FA or the TAU solutions respectively.

IV.4.8.2. Oral gavage treatment of the mice

Oral gavage treatment was performed using plastic feeding tubes (20ga x 38mm, Instech Laboratories, USA). NIM811 were solubilized in a vehicle which contained 8.3% polyoxyl 40 hydrogenated castor oil and 8.3% ethanol [17]. Pre-treatment of the animals by NIM811 was performed and mice were gavaged orally once 1 h prior to the induction AP, concentrations of NIM811 were 10 mg/kg or 5mg/kg. Dosage of NIM811 was chosen according to a previous study in which NIM811 was effective against mitochondrial damage in liver transplantation ^[17]. Besides the pretreatment, NIM811 was used as a post-AP treatment as well. NIM811 was administered 12 hours after the induction of AP in the TAU or EtOH+FA induced experimental pancreatitis models. Concerning the CER induced AP, NIM811 was administered after the 3rd injection of CER.

IV.4.9. Serum amylase measurements

We collected blood from the mice by cardiac puncture, blood was immediately placed on ice, then centrifuged with 2500 RCF for 15 mins at 4°C. Blood serum was collected from the pellet and stored at -20°C until use. Pancreas samples were placed into 8% neutral formaldehyde solution and stored at -4°C until the hematoxylin –eosin staining was performed. A colorimetric kit was used to measure serum amylase activity (Diagnosticum, Budapest, Hungary). Absorbance of the samples were detected at 405 nm with the use of FLUOstar OPTIMA (BMG Labtech, Budapest, Hungary) microplate reader.

IV.4.10. Histological analysis

Formaldehyde-fixed pancreas samples were embedded in paraffin, then were cut into sections (3 μ m) and hematoxylin-eosin staining were performed by using a standard laboratory method. To quantify histological differences a semiquantitative scoring system was used as Kui et al described previously ^{[53][55][80][81][[80][][79][78][77][76][75][74][75][74][73][72][71][70][69][68)[67][66].}

IV.5. Materials and methods used in Publication No.2.

IV.5.1. Animals

CFTR knock out (KO) (background FVB/N) mice were kindly provided by Dr. Ursula Seidler (Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany). AQP1 KO (background CD4) (mice were supplied by Dr. Alan Verkman (University of Carolina, CA, Unites States) and Dr. Alastair Poole (University of Bristol, United Kingdom).

IV.5.2. Immunfluorescent stainings and detection of AQP1 and CFTR channels in mouse pancreas

7 μm thick cryosections from WT, AQP1, and CFTR KO mice pancreas were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde. Permeabilisation of the slices occured in 10% Tween 20-sodium citrate, they were blocked with 5% goat serum. Immunofluorescent double staining for AQP1 mouse monoclonal antibody (1:500 dilutions; Thermo Fisher, Rockford, IL, United States) and CFTR rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:100 dilutions; Alomone Labs, Jerusalem, Israel) were performed by overnight incubation at 4°C. After the washing periods, slices were incubated with secondary antibodies goat-anti-mouse (Alexa fluor 488, Thermo Fisher, Rockford, IL, United States) and goat-anti-rabbit (Alexa fluor 568, Thermo Fisher, Rockford, IL, United States) for 120 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Nuclei staining were performed with the use of DAPI fluorescent dye. Results of the immunostaining were then analyzed using a Zeiss LSM 880 confocal laser scanning microscope (Carl Zeiss Technika Kft., 10–12 representative pictures were taken from the mice (WT, AQP1 KO and CFTR KO) pancreas sections, as described earlier.^[54]

IV.6. Methods used in publication No.3.

IV.6.1. Animals

We performed our experiments on female FVB/N mice (Charles Rivers Laboratories, Wilmington, MA, USA).

IV.6.2. Development of the new model of MA in mice

To develop a mouse model of chronic MA, the mice were randomly divided into the following 4 groups for a 12-day treatment:

- ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl⁻) administration with drinking water (8.2 ± 0.5 ml/day/mouse) as described earlier ^[55, 56]
- intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections of NH₄Cl⁻ (0.5 ml, 0.28 M) on days 1 and 6;

- administration of NH₄Cl⁻ with drinking water (as in group 1) and i.p. injections (as in group 2);
- and controls, receiving NH₄Cl⁻free tap water and 2 i.p. injections of saline on days 1 and 6.

IV.6.3. Induction of AP

Severe AP (SAP) was induced by caerulein (CER,10x50µg/kg), CER was administered i.p.^[49]. Mild AP was induced by alcohol and fatty acid (i.p. of 1.75 g/kg ethanol and 750 mg/kg palmitic acid , EtOH+FA) as described previously ^[25, 52]. During the experimental model of MA, MAP and SAP were induced on day 12 of the acidifying treatment.

IV.6.4. Measurement and histological analysis

Laboratory parameters from blood serum and urine were performed by standard methods at the Institute of Laboratory Medicine, University of Szeged. Serum amylase measurement and histological analysis were performed as described in the previous chapters respectively. For blood gas pH measurements, samples of arterial blood (170µl) were collected from the mice in heparin and lithium treated and sealed plastic capillaries. Analysis of the arterial blood was performed by blood gas analyser (Cobas 221, Roche Ltd., Basel,Switzerland) within 1 minute after the blood collection (at room temperature 22°C).

V. RESULTS

V.1.Results of publication No.1.

Both genetic and pharmacological inhibition of Cyp D significantly prevented the toxic effects of BA and EtOH+FA by restoring mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \psi$) and preventing the loss of mitochondrial mass. In vivo experiments revealed that per os administration of NIM811 has a protective effect in AP by reducing oedema, necrosis, leukocyte infiltration and serum amylase level in AP models. Administration of NIM811 had no toxic effects.

V.2. Results from publication No.2.

We have shown for the first time that AQP1 and CFTR are co-localized at the apical membrane of pancreatic ductal cells. Lack of CFTR significantly reduced the expression of AQP1, these data indicate that CFTR may control the water permeability of ductal cells. Our results also indicate that AQP1 interacts with the CFTR Cl⁻ channel and takes part in the formation of pancreatic fluid. Moreover, we have found that AQP1 plays role in the pathology of pancreatitis.

V.3.Results from publication No.3.

During our experiments we have shown experimental evidence to a bilateral link between pH and AP. We showed that pre-existing MA worsens the outcome of AP, whereas AP reduces pH in the blood which vicious cycle could be one of the main reasons for the high mortality rate in severe cases of AP.

VI. DISCUSSION

VI.1. Protecting the mitochondrial homeostasis as a novel therapeutic option in AP-Publication No.1.

Dysfunction of mitochondria is one of the main pathophysiological events in the early phase of AP in pancreatic ducts and acinar cells as well ^[2, 57, 58]. It decreases ATP production, causing elevation of intracellular calcium concentration; moreover, it negatively influences ATPdependent Cl⁻HCO₃⁻ exchangers, CFTR Cl⁻ channels in ductal cells and enzyme secretory processes in acinar cells^[2, 4, 6, 25, 58-60]. Henceforth, mitochondrial damage is the main factor in determining cell death pathways necrosis and apoptosis. Release of mitochondrial cytochrome c into the cytosol causes apoptosis, whereas mitochondrial depolarization leads to necrosis^[61]. Inhibition of mPTP could prevent both cell death mechanisms in DEC, which is different from that seen in acinar cells, where only necrosis could have been prevented. Taking it together, inhibition of mPTP seems to be beneficial in both cell types. In the last decade, it has been proved that genetic or pharmacological inhibition of mPTP reduces BA- or EtOH+FA-induced AC damage as well as augmenting the severity of AP^[1, 4, 6, 62]. In the last few years our research group revealed that both BA and EtOH+FA induce inhibition of HCO₃⁻ secretion via severe mitochondrial damage in PDEC ^{[25, 59][25, 61][50, 85][50, 85,36, 70]}. During our studies we have continued the experiments investigating the role of mPTP and its inhibition in pancreatic ductal epithelial cells. In the first step, we characterized the role of mPTP (both genetic and pharmacological CyA) inhibition in PDEC and found that its inhibition has a strong protective effect against the toxic effects of BA or EtOH+FA in ductal cells, suggesting that targeting mPTP may have general benefits. Although many mPTP inhibitors have been tested, none of them have been successful. CyA itself inhibits calcineurin, which leads to immunosuppressant activity and thus could negatively affect the treatment of patients due to hazardous infections. Clinical testing of non-immunosuppressive CyA derivatives was also stopped before reaching the "proof of concept" phase 2 clinical trials in AP because of its inconsistent behavior in other trials due to the facts noted in the introduction. We revealed that NIM811 reduces the mitochondrial damage caused by BA or EtOH+FA. Importantly, NIM811 decreased apoptosis levels during BA or EtOH+FA treatment in ductal cells. Surprisingly, inhibition of mPTP protected pancreatic ductal bicarbonate but fluid secretion during BA or EtOH+FA treatment. Considering these results, it is assumed that rescuing intracellular ATP level and the activity of Na+/K+-ATPase do not result in overall protection alone and other fluid transport mechanisms such as aquaporins may remain diminished ^[54]. *Per os* administration of 5 or 10 mg/kg NIM811 treatment alone had no toxic effect, but significantly reduced the severity of AP.

VI.2. The role of AQP1 in pancreatic ductal fluid secretion- Publication No.2.

Concerning, the AQPs role in the pancreatic ductal fluid secretion, by using double immunostaining of AQP1 and CFTR we have shown for the first time that AQP1 and CFTR are co-localized at the apical membrane of pancreatic ductal cells. Lack of CFTR significantly reduced the expression of AQP1, these data indicate that CFTR may control the water permeability of ductal cells. Our results also indicate that AQP1 interacts with the CFTR Cl⁻ channel and takes part in the formation of pancreatic fluid. Moreover, we have found that AQP1 plays role in the pathology of pancreatitis. Earlier, similar results have been found in respiratory epithelial cells, where the CFTR channel was mutant or inhibited the water permeability of the epithelial cells significantly decreased ^[26, 63]. This could highlight the significance of this water channel in disease of pancreatitis moreover in cystic fibrosis as well.

VI.3. The vicious cycle between reduced blood pH and AP-Publication No.3.

Since, in the literature there were no mouse model of MA, first we performed several methods of experiments to find the most beneficial MA model to use. Dual administration (oral and i.p.) of acidic fluid induced a marked pH drop in the blood without damaging the pancreas. In our model of MA, the MA manifested slowly and occured for several days in the mice which is very similar to what is happening in patients with MA. Furthermore, in human patients AP can manifest in pre-existing MA, for instance during hyperlipidemia or diabetic ketoacidosis ^[64, 65] However, in clinical settings MA typically occurs as a consequence of AP and in most cases it does not pre-exist. In the future, it should be a great goal of clinical trials to find the beneficial effects of controlled pH management and to search for the optimal fluid resuscitation forms in patients with AP and pre-existing MA. During our experiments we have shown experimental evidence to a bilateral link between pH and AP. We showed that pre-existing MA worsens the outcome of AP, whereas AP reduces pH in the blood which vicious cycle could be one of the main reasons for the high mortality rate in severe cases of AP. Future evaluations are needed to

reveal the exact mechanism of how MA can deteriorate AP, but assumably a complex regulatory mechanisms is involved.

VII. SUMMARY

VII.1. Conclusions, new therapeutic options in the treatment of AP

- 1. NIM811 is a suitable compound to be tested in clinical trials of AP. We provided strong evidence that one of the mPTP inhibitors, namely NIM811 is highly effective in different experimental pancreatitis models. Since NIM811 had no side-effects and passed the important phase 1 stage in the clinical trial process, companies should organize phase 2 clinical trials with the use of this novel and promising drug candidate. (Publication No.1.)
- **2. Protecting fluid secretion could be a new therapeutic option in AP.** AQP1 and CFTR channels are co-localized in the pancreatic ducts, we hypothesize that absence of the channel makes the pancreas more sensitive to pancreatitis, probably due to the decreased pancreatic fluid and HCO₃⁻ secretion. (Publication No.2.)
- **3.** Restoring the normal pH in patients with AP could be a beneficial therapeutic application in the treatment of the disease. (Publication No.3.)

VIII. FUNDING

My PhD work was funded by a Momentum Grant from the Hungarian Academy of Sciences (LP2014-10/2014 to PH) as well as Economic Development and Innovation Operational Programme Grants and Project Grants from the National Research, Development and Innovation Office (GINOP-2.3.2-15-2016-00015, EFOP-3.6.2-16-2017-00006, K116634 to PH, K109756 to VV and PD115974 to JM and K119938 to ZR).

IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my gratitude and thanks to my mentor and supervisor **Prof. Dr. Péter** Hegyi (Momentum Translational Gastroenterology Research Group, Hungarian Academy of Sciences-University of Szeged, Institute for Translational Medicine, University of Pécs) who provided the scientific and financial support throughout my PhD. studies. Without his outstanding scientific work and supervision this dissertation would not have been possible. I am very grateful for my other supervisor Dr. József Maléth (First Department of Medicine University of Szeged, Momentum Epithelial Cell Signalling and Secretion Research Group, Hungarian Academy of Sciences–University of Szeged), for the scientific counselling, valuable comments and methodological advices. I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Csaba Lengyel and Prof. Dr. György Ábrahám, the current and former head of the First Department of Medicine, University of Szeged who gave me the opportunity to work at the Department. I also thank **Prof. Dr. András Varró** (former head of Department of Pharmachology and Pharmachotherapy, University of Szeged) his support. I owe special thanks to Dr. Viktória Venglovecz (Department of Pharmachology and Pharmachoterapy, University of Szeged) for her scientific advices and kind support throughout the years. I also would like to thank Dr. Andrea Szentesi (First Department of Medicine University of Szeged and Institute for Translational Medicine, University of Pécs), Dr. Petra Pallagi (First Department of Medicine University of Szeged) and Prof. Dr. Zoltán Rakonczay Jr. (Department of Pathophysiology, University of Szeged) for the scientific advices during these years.

Thank you to all the members of the Cell and Physiology Laboratory at the First Department of Medicine, University of Szeged and the Hungarian Pancreatic Study Group. This dissertation would not have been possible to achieve without a great team and the assistance of Edit Magyarné Pálfi, Rea Fritz, Zsuzsanna Miklósné Árva, Tünde Pritz Béláné Horesnyi, Brigitta Kazi and †Erzsébet Zoltánné Fuksz. Special thanks to my great lab colleagues and friends (in alphabetical order) for their advices, assistance and the fun times we had together: Emese Réka Bálint, Zsolt Balla, Attila Ébert, Júlia Fanczal, Gabriella Fűr, Anett Lőrincz, Tamara Madácsy, Réka Molnár and Noémi Závogyán. I am thankful to my husband János Tóth for his exceptional patience and for being my greatest cheerleader all along these years. I am beyond grateful to my brother Máté Gergely Tóth for always brighten my days; to all my family and friends for their emotional support. You are awesome! I dedicate my dissertation work to my parents and grandparents. To my parents; Éva and Tibor Tóth, who taught me about the importance of diligence, education, hard work and integrity. To my grandfather; †Imre Tóth, who believed in my scientific research career even when I did not know what even science meant.

"Success is walking from failure to failure with no loss of enthusiasm." —Winston Churchill

X. REFERENCES

- 1. Sah, R.P. and A. Saluja, *Molecular mechanisms of pancreatic injury*. Curr Opin Gastroenterol, 2011. **27**(5): p. 444-51.
- 2. Maleth, J., et al., *Central role of mitochondrial injury in the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis*. Acta Physiol (Oxf), 2013. **207**(2): p. 226-35.
- 3. Abu-El-Haija, M., et al., Accelerating the Drug Delivery Pipeline for Acute and Chronic Pancreatitis: Summary of the Working Group on Drug Development and Trials in Acute Pancreatitis at the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases Workshop. Pancreas, 2018. **47**(10): p. 1185-1192.
- 4. Biczo, G., et al., *Mitochondrial Dysfunction, Through Impaired Autophagy, Leads to Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress, Deregulated Lipid Metabolism, and Pancreatitis in Animal Models.* Gastroenterology, 2018. **154**(3): p. 689-703.
- 5. Shalbueva, N., et al., *Effects of oxidative alcohol metabolism on the mitochondrial permeability transition pore and necrosis in a mouse model of alcoholic pancreatitis.* Gastroenterology, 2013. **144**(2): p. 437-446 e6.
- 6. Mukherjee, R., et al., *Mechanism of mitochondrial permeability transition pore induction and damage in the pancreas: inhibition prevents acute pancreatitis by protecting production of ATP.* Gut, 2016. **65**(8): p. 1333-46.
- Javed, M.A., et al., TRO40303 Ameliorates Alcohol-Induced Pancreatitis Through Reduction of Fatty Acid Ethyl Ester-Induced Mitochondrial Injury and Necrotic Cell Death. Pancreas, 2018.
 47(1): p. 18-24.
- 8. Piot, C., et al., *Effect of cyclosporine on reperfusion injury in acute myocardial infarction.* N Engl J Med, 2008. **359**(5): p. 473-81.
- 9. Cung, T.T., et al., *Cyclosporine before PCI in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction*. N Engl J Med, 2015. **373**(11): p. 1021-31.
- 10. Zeuzem, S., et al., *Randomised clinical trial: alisporivir combined with peginterferon and ribavirin in treatment-naive patients with chronic HCV genotype 1 infection (ESSENTIAL II).* Aliment Pharmacol Ther, 2015. **42**(7): p. 829-44.
- 11. Stanciu, C., et al., *Efficacy and safety of alisporivir for the treatment of hepatitis C infection.* Expert Opin Pharmacother, 2019. **20**(4): p. 379-384.
- 12. Atar, D., et al., *Effect of intravenous TRO40303 as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction: MITOCARE study results.* Eur Heart J, 2015. **36**(2): p. 112-9.
- 13. Sileikyte, J. and M. Forte, *Shutting down the pore: The search for small molecule inhibitors of the mitochondrial permeability transition.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2016. **1857**(8): p. 1197-1202.
- 14. Arai, M., et al., *Resistance to cyclosporin A derives from mutations in hepatitis C virus nonstructural proteins.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2014. **448**(1): p. 56-62.
- 15. Readnower, R.D., et al., *Post-injury administration of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore inhibitor, NIM811, is neuroprotective and improves cognition after traumatic brain injury in rats.* J Neurotrauma, 2011. **28**(9): p. 1845-53.
- 16. Garbaisz, D., et al., Attenuation of skeletal muscle and renal injury to the lower limb following ischemia-reperfusion using mPTP inhibitor NIM-811. PLoS One, 2014. **9**(6): p. e101067.
- 17. Rehman, H., et al., *NIM811 prevents mitochondrial dysfunction, attenuates liver injury, and stimulates liver regeneration after massive hepatectomy.* Transplantation, 2011. **91**(4): p. 406-12.
- 18. Huang, Z.L., et al., *Cyclophilin inhibitor NIM811 ameliorates experimental allergic encephalomyelitis.* J Neuroimmunol, 2017. **311**: p. 40-48.
- 19. Liu, Q., et al., *Small-for-Size Liver Transplantation Increases Pulmonary Injury in Rats: Prevention by NIM811.* HPB Surg, 2012. **2012**: p. 270372.

- 20. Lawitz, E., et al., *Safety, pharmacokinetics, and antiviral activity of the cyclophilin inhibitor NIM811 alone or in combination with pegylated interferon in HCV-infected patients receiving 14 days of therapy.* Antiviral Res, 2011. **89**(3): p. 238-45.
- 21. Hegyi, P. and Z. Rakonczay, *Insufficiency of electrolyte and fluid secretion by pancreatic ductal cells leads to increased patient risk for pancreatitis.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2010. **105**(9): p. 2119-20.
- 22. Hegyi, P., et al., *The acinar-ductal tango in the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis.* Gut, 2011. **60**(4): p. 544-52.
- 23. Takacs, T., et al., *Intraductal acidosis in acute biliary pancreatitis*. Pancreatology, 2013. **13**(4): p. 333-5.
- 24. Pallagi, P., et al., *The role of pancreatic ductal secretion in protection against acute pancreatitis in mice**. Crit Care Med, 2014. **42**(3): p. e177-88.
- 25. Maleth, J., et al., Alcohol disrupts levels and function of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator to promote development of pancreatitis. Gastroenterology, 2015.
 148(2): p. 427-39 e16.
- 26. Schreiber, R., et al., *The cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator activates aquaporin 3 in airway epithelial cells.* J Biol Chem, 1999. **274**(17): p. 11811-6.
- 27. Cheung, K.H., et al., *Synergistic effects of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator and aquaporin-9 in the rat epididymis.* Biol Reprod, 2003. **68**(5): p. 1505-10.
- 28. Jesus, T.T., et al., *Aquaporin-4 as a molecular partner of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in rat Sertoli cells.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2014. **446**(4): p. 1017-21.
- 29. Burghardt, B., et al., *Distribution of aquaporin water channels AQP1 and AQP5 in the ductal system of the human pancreas.* Gut, 2003. **52**(7): p. 1008-16.
- 30. Hua, Y., et al., *Physiological and pathological impact of AQP1 knockout in mice*. Biosci Rep, 2019. **39**(5).
- 31. Ma, T., et al., *Defective dietary fat processing in transgenic mice lacking aquaporin-1 water channels.* Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2001. **280**(1): p. C126-34.
- 32. Yang, B., et al., *Reduced osmotic water permeability of the peritoneal barrier in aquaporin-1 knockout mice.* Am J Physiol, 1999. **276**(1): p. C76-81.
- 33. Ni, J., et al., *Aquaporin-1 plays an essential role in water permeability and ultrafiltration during peritoneal dialysis.* Kidney Int, 2006. **69**(9): p. 1518-25.
- 34. Zhang, W., et al., *Novel Endothelial Cell-Specific AQP1 Knockout Mice Confirm the Crucial Role* of Endothelial AQP1 in Ultrafiltration during Peritoneal Dialysis. PLoS One, 2016. **11**(1): p. e0145513.
- 35. Vincent, J.L. and R. Moreno, *Clinical review: scoring systems in the critically ill.* Crit Care, 2010. **14**(2): p. 207.
- 36. Reed, A.M., et al., *Low extracellular pH induces damage in the pancreatic acinar cell by enhancing calcium signaling.* J Biol Chem, 2011. **286**(3): p. 1919-26.
- 37. Noble, M.D., et al., *A pH-sensitive, neurogenic pathway mediates disease severity in a model of post-ERCP pancreatitis.* Gut, 2008. **57**(11): p. 1566-71.
- 38. Bhoomagoud, M., et al., *Reducing extracellular pH sensitizes the acinar cell to secretagogueinduced pancreatitis responses in rats.* Gastroenterology, 2009. **137**(3): p. 1083-92.
- Rumbus, Z., et al., Bidirectional Relationship Between Reduced Blood pH and Acute Pancreatitis: A Translational Study of Their Noxious Combination. Front Physiol, 2018. 9: p. 1360.
- 40. Argent, B.E., et al., *Morphological, biochemical and secretory studies on rat pancreatic ducts maintained in tissue culture.* Q J Exp Physiol, 1986. **71**(4): p. 633-48.
- 41. Gout, J., et al., *Isolation and culture of mouse primary pancreatic acinar cells*. J Vis Exp, 2013(78).
- 42. Hegyi, P., et al., *Measurement of intracellular pH in pancreatic duct cells: a new method for calibrating the fluorescence data.* Pancreas, 2004. **28**(4): p. 427-34.

- 43. Hegyi, P., M.A. Gray, and B.E. Argent, Substance P inhibits bicarbonate secretion from guinea pig pancreatic ducts by modulating an anion exchanger. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2003.
 285(2): p. C268-76.
- 44. Fernandez-Salazar, M.P., et al., *Basolateral anion transport mechanisms underlying fluid secretion by mouse, rat and guinea-pig pancreatic ducts.* J Physiol, 2004. **556**(Pt 2): p. 415-28.
- 45. Balazs, A., et al., *Ductal Mucus Obstruction and Reduced Fluid Secretion Are Early Defects in Chronic Pancreatitis.* Front Physiol, 2018. **9**: p. 632.
- 46. Schatz, G., *The protein import system of mitochondria*. J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(50): p. 31763-6.
- 47. Pfanner, N., *Mitochondrial import: crossing the aqueous intermembrane space*. Curr Biol, 1998. **8**(8): p. R262-5.
- 48. Rapaport, D., *Biogenesis of the mitochondrial TOM complex.* Trends Biochem Sci, 2002. **27**(4): p. 191-7.
- 49. Niederau, C., L.D. Ferrell, and J.H. Grendell, *Caerulein-induced acute necrotizing pancreatitis in mice: protective effects of proglumide, benzotript, and secretin.* Gastroenterology, 1985.
 88(5 Pt 1): p. 1192-204.
- 50. Ding, S.P., J.C. Li, and C. Jin, *A mouse model of severe acute pancreatitis induced with caerulein and lipopolysaccharide.* World J Gastroenterol, 2003. **9**(3): p. 584-9.
- 51. Perides, G., et al., *Experimental acute biliary pancreatitis induced by retrograde infusion of bile acids into the mouse pancreatic duct.* Nat Protoc, 2010. **5**(2): p. 335-41.
- 52. Huang, W., et al., *Fatty acid ethyl ester synthase inhibition ameliorates ethanol-induced Ca2+dependent mitochondrial dysfunction and acute pancreatitis.* Gut, 2014. **63**(8): p. 1313-24.
- 53. Kui, B., et al., *New insights into the methodology of L-arginine-induced acute pancreatitis.* PLoS One, 2015. **10**(2): p. e0117588.
- 54. Venglovecz, V., et al., *The Importance of Aquaporin 1 in Pancreatitis and Its Relation to the CFTR Cl(-) Channel.* Front Physiol, 2018. **9**: p. 854.
- 55. Galicek, J., F. Seow, and J.M. Lingard, *The effect of chronic acid/base disturbances on renal amino acid clearances in the rat.* Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci, 1981. **59**(4): p. 383-91.
- 56. Nowik, M., et al., *Induction of metabolic acidosis with ammonium chloride (NH4Cl) in mice and rats--species differences and technical considerations.* Cell Physiol Biochem, 2010. **26**(6): p. 1059-72.
- 57. Hegyi, P. and O.H. Petersen, *The exocrine pancreas: the acinar-ductal tango in physiology and pathophysiology.* Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol, 2013. **165**: p. 1-30.
- 58. Maleth, J. and P. Hegyi, *Ca2+ toxicity and mitochondrial damage in acute pancreatitis: translational overview.* Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2016. **371**(1700).
- 59. Maleth, J., et al., *Non-conjugated chenodeoxycholate induces severe mitochondrial damage and inhibits bicarbonate transport in pancreatic duct cells.* Gut, 2011. **60**(1): p. 136-8.
- 60. Judak, L., et al., *Ethanol and its non-oxidative metabolites profoundly inhibit CFTR function in pancreatic epithelial cells which is prevented by ATP supplementation*. Pflugers Arch, 2014. **466**(3): p. 549-62.
- 61. Odinokova, I.V., et al., *Mitochondrial mechanisms of death responses in pancreatitis.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2008. **23 Suppl 1**: p. S25-30.
- 62. Gukovskaya, A.S., S.J. Pandol, and I. Gukovsky, *New insights into the pathways initiating and driving pancreatitis.* Curr Opin Gastroenterol, 2016.
- 63. Jourdain, P., et al., *The human CFTR protein expressed in CHO cells activates aquaporin-3 in a cAMP-dependent pathway: study by digital holographic microscopy.* J Cell Sci, 2014. **127**(Pt 3): p. 546-56.
- 64. Nair, S. and C.S. Pitchumoni, *Diabetic ketoacidosis, hyperlipidemia, and acute pancreatitis: the enigmatic triangle.* Am J Gastroenterol, 1997. **92**(9): p. 1560-1.
- 65. Nair, S., D. Yadav, and C.S. Pitchumoni, *Association of diabetic ketoacidosis and acute pancreatitis: observations in 100 consecutive episodes of DKA*. Am J Gastroenterol, 2000. **95**(10): p. 2795-800.